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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 

 

NATIVE AMERICAN ARTS, INC., 

 

   Plaintiff, 

 

v. 

 

PETER STONE CO., U.S.A., INC., 

 

   Defendant. 

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

) 

 

 

 

 

 

 No. 08 CV 3908 

 

 Magistrate Judge Cole 

DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR SANCTIONS 

Defendant, Peter Stone Co., U.S.A., Inc. (“Peter Stone”), by and through its attorneys, 

pursuant Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 11 and 28 U.S.C. § 1927 hereby moves for sanctions 

against Plaintiff Native American Arts, Inc. (“NAA”) and its counsel Peter Lubin (“Lubin”).
1
 

INTRODUCTION 

Plaintiff caused Peter Stone to incur more than $100,000 in attorneys’ fees in defending 

this case before the Court granted summary judgment to Peter Stone on June 6, 2015.  (ECF 

323).  On July 6, 2015 Plaintiff filed an appeal of this Court’s summary judgment order.  (ECF 

333).  That appeal was dismissed on August 3, 2015. 

   Plaintiff’s lawsuit was filed and maintained for an improper purpose – to try to extract a 

settlement from Peter Stone by alleging astronomical monetary damages in the hopes that Peter 

Stone would not be willing to “bet the company” and have this case decided on its merits.  

Plaintiff’s lawsuit was frivolous because Plaintiff did not have standing to file it.  Plaintiff also 

alleged damages without a good faith basis and without conducting any investigation.  Also, the 

                                                 
1
 This motion is timely, filed well within the 90 days from final judgment that was entered on June 6, 2015 in which 

Peter Stone had to file its motion.  Sullivan v. Hunt, 350 F.3d 664, 666 (7
th

 Cir. 2003). 
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subject jewelry sold by Peter Stone was in fact designed by a Native American that Plaintiff 

failed to properly investigate.  Finally, Plaintiff named two experts that were previously barred in 

similar lawsuits. As a result, Peter Stone should be awarded all of its attorneys’ fees and 

expenses incurred defending this lawsuit. 

PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

NAA sued Peter Stone under the Indian Arts and Crafts Act (“IACA”), 25 U.S.C. § 305, 

et seq., which forbids selling merchandise “in a manner that falsely suggests it is Indian 

produced, an Indian product, or the product of a particular Indian or Indian tribe or Indian arts 

and crafts organization ... .”  Peter Stone filed an Answer to Peter Stone’s Complaint denying all 

of the material allegations therein, and also raising affirmative defenses, including that NAA did 

not have standing to pursue this case.  (ECF 47).  In its initial disclosures, NAA asserted $5,000 

in competitive injury damages and $14,235,000 in statutory damages.  (Ex. 1). 

Lubin filed his appearance in this case on August 19, 2013.  (ECF 121).  Immediately 

thereafter Peter Stone informed Lubin that NAA lacked standing to pursue the claims.  On June 

11, 2014, Peter Stone served Lubin with written notice reiterating that NAA had no standing to 

pursue this case and that the case should be dismissed.  (Ex. 2).
2
  In response, Lubin refused to 

dismiss the case, accused Peter Stone of violating Rule 11, got discovery reopened, took 

numerous additional depositions, filed baseless motions for sanctions and served amended 

disclosures increasing Plaintiff’s statutory damages to $36,144,000.  (Ex. 3). 

This case was extremely taxing and burdensome to Peter Stone.  Peter Stone is a very 

small company struggling to survive.  In addition to incurring attorneys’ fees, costs and 

                                                 
2
 This satisfies Peter Stone’s obligations under the pre-filing notice requirement of Rule 11.  See Matrix IV, Inc. v. 

American Nat. Bank & Trust Co., 649 F.3d 539 (7th Cir. 2011); Fabriko Acquisition Corp. v. Prokos, 536 F.3d 605, 

610 (7th Cir. 2008) (finding a letter informing offending party of sanctions to be adequate); Nisenbaum v. 

Milwaukee Cnty., 333 F.3d 804, 808 (7th Cir. 2003) (same).   
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expenses, the company’s owner, Peter Koslowski, was forced to sit for 3 separate deposition 

sessions (the last two taken by Lubin), forcing its counsel to travel to Boston and Delaware for 

those depositions.  Peter Stone also had to produce other employees for deposition, including one 

in Delaware and another employee of a company affiliated with Peter Stone, Peter Stone 

Thailand, in Thailand.  Peter Stone was also forced to respond to numerous rounds of written 

discovery and produce thousands of documents.  In fact, Lubin also forced Peter Stone to 

produce the hard drive for its entire company.  NAA also subpoenaed Peter Stone’s website host 

which led to two additional depositions, forcing Peter Stone’s counsel to have to travel to Texas 

for one of those depositions.   

  FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

A. NAA 

NAA is owned by Matthew and Mary Mullen, who are enrolled members of the Ho-

Chunk Nation.  NAA sells Indian craft items out of its store in Tinley Park, Illinois and through a 

website.   (ECF 323 at 4-5).  However, NAA’s primary business is filing lawsuits.  In the 

Northern District of Illinois alone, NAA has filed more than 125 such cases.  NAA’s lawsuit 

strategy is to do an undercover purchase, file suit alleging millions of dollars in damages and 

then coerce a confidential settlement from the defendant.  (ECF 323 at 10).  This scheme is 

ongoing.  Last year alone Lubin, on behalf of NAA, filed four similar lawsuits in this district, 

NAA v. Silverbin, Case No. 15-CV-4380 (demanding $9,999,000); NAA v. Overstock, Case No. 

15-CV-4332; NAA v. Wal-Mart, Case No. 15-CV-4026, and NAA v. Swiss Watch Int’l., Case No. 

15-CV-4372, all of which have since been dismissed.   

NAA does not gather evidence of damages or injury prior to filing its complaints.  Prior 

to filing this lawsuit NAA did no investigation with consumers as to what they believed 

when they saw the Peter Stone products at issue in this case.  (ECF 323 at 21).  In NAA v. 
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Specialty Merchandise, 451 F.Supp.2d 1080 (C.D. Cal. 2006) NAA admitted that it had 

conducted no investigation from which it could reasonably conclude that it has been injured by 

the defendants’ conduct.  In fact, NAA admitted that it had spoken to no person who could 

document any actual injury.  The district court held this was a violation of Rule 11.  Specialty 

Merchandise, 451 F.Supp.2d at 1082-83 (“[a]s counsel should well know, such an investigation 

is required before the filing of a complaint in federal court.  Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of 

Civil Procedure….Article III of the United States Constitution requires proof of [actual] 

damages in order to have access to the federal courts to establish and collect on such a claim.”  

(ECF 323 at 21) (emphasis added). 

B. Peter Stone 

Peter Stone is a small East Coast based jewelry company owned by Peter Koslowski.  

Peter Stone sells unique jewelry products. (ECF 323 at 9).  Its products are made in Thailand by 

a related company, Peter Stone Thailand.  Id.  Peter Stone is a wholesaler and less than 2% of its 

sales are to end users.  Id.  Peter Stone’s primary business has always been selling to independent 

wholesalers, distributors, resellers and retailers.  Id.  Peter Stone’s primary customers are gift 

shops.  Id.  Peter Stone’s customers also include jewelry stores and others who resell jewelry.  Id.  

Approximately 98% of Peter Stone’s sales are to wholesalers, distributors, resellers and retailers.  

It has little or no presence in Illinois.  Id.  Peter Stone has a website, but between 2006 and 2009 

the Internet accounted for less than 1% of its sales.  Id.  Less than 4% of Stone’s customers are in 

Illinois.   

Peter Stone distributes a wide variety of different types of jewelry, including spiritual, 

metaphysical, and cultural jewelry, and primarily sells Celtic and New Age jewelry.  (ECF 249 at 

¶ 22).  Peter Stone sells jewelry made by numerous different designers.  Id.  Between 2006 and 

2009 Peter Stone sold jewelry that included the Animal-Speak Collection (by Ted Andrews), 
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Enchanted Myth & Magick (by Jessica Galbreth), Divine Mysteries (by Brigid Ashwood), 

Enchanted World of Faerywoods (by Michelle Campbell), Gentle Wisdom of the Faerie Realm 

(by Sasha Saint John), Gothic Fantasy & Fairy Art (by Jasmine Becket-Griffith), Enchanted 

Goddesses (by Amy Zerner), Celtic and Wiccan Art (by Maxine Miller), Celtic & Sacred Art (by 

Courtney Davis), Precious Metal Clay (by Linda Bernstein), Angelic and Faerie (by Amy 

Brown), Mythic (by Oberon Zell), Astrology, Viking, Egyptian, Moari, Christian Shamrock & 

Irish, Celtic Traditions, Blue Moon and Stars, Triple Moon, Dolphin, Nautical & Sea Life, and 

Scottish design jewelry.  Id.   

Peter Stone does not and has never competed with companies who sell products made by 

Native Americans, such as NAA.  (ECF 249 at ¶ 26).  Peter Stone has never sold Native 

American themed items, such as dream catchers, rugs, or pottery.  Id. 

Peter Stone displayed in its marketing communications, including on its website, that all 

of its products are made in Thailand.  (ECF 323 at 10).  Also featured on its website was a 

picture of the Peter Stone Thailand factory where all of Peter Stone’s products are made, with 

pictures of its Thai factory workers.  Id.  All of Peter Stone’s products that are shipped to the 

United States have a sticker on the package conspicuously disclosing “MADE IN 

THAILAND”.  Id.  Peter Stone jewelry is put on jewelry display cards for hanging in displays 

and putting in display cases.  Id.  On the back of these display cards is stamped: MADE IN 

THAILAND.  Id.  These are sent inside a plastic bag packaged individually with the same 

stickers they arrived within the United States that state MADE IN THAILAND.  Id.  Peter 

Stone’s rings also have tags that are put on each piece that also say MADE IN THAILAND.  Id.  

The stickers are always in place when shipped to Peter Stone’s customers.  Id.  Peter Stone’s 
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bracelets also have stickers on the outside of the bags they are shipped to the customers as well 

in most cases a sticker with MADE IN THAILAND attached to the pieces.  Id.    

C. Wendy Whiteman 

Wendy Whiteman (“Whiteman”) is an artist of Native American descent who goes by the 

name “Wolfwalker”.  (Ex. 4, Whiteman Dep. at 10, 12, 17-19).  Her parents were Native 

American and she ran a Native American trading post.  Id.  She also sells Native American 

products online through her website, www.wolfwalkercollection.com.  Id. 

D. The Wolfwalker Collection 

In 2006 Peter Stone began selling Native American themed jewelry designed by 

Whiteman called the Wolfwalker Collection, which was licensed by Whiteman exclusively to 

Peter Stone.  (ECF 249 ¶¶ 29-34).  Peter Stone sold 35 separate items in the Wolfwalker 

Collection.  Id.  The prices for the jewelry items in the Wolfwalker Collection ranged from 

$12.97 to $219.97.  Id.  Most of these items sold for less than $40, with many selling in the $10 

to $20 range.  Id.  A very small amount and percentage of Peter Stone’s sales came from the 

Wolfwalker Collection.  Id.  Peter Stone’s total sales of the Wolfwalker Collection during the 

2006 to 2009 time period was $27,905.09, less than 3/10 of one percent of Peter Stone’s gross 

sales, which were nearly $10 million.  Id.  As a result of the low amount of sales from the 

Wolfwalker Collection, Peter Stone discontinued selling this product line in September 2013.      

E. NAA Sues Peter Stone 

NAA became aware of Peter Stone selling its Wolfwalker Collection in late 2006, 

early 2007, when it received promotional material.  (ECF 323 at 10).  Plaintiff first accessed 

Peter Stone’s website on January 13, 2007.  Id.  Matthew Mullen purchased 6 jewelry pieces 

from Peter Stone’s Wolfwalker Collection on January 13, 2007 .  Id.  Upon receiving theses 

items it was readily apparent to him that the items were mass produced and the bag for each of 
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the 6 jewelry items contained a sticker bearing the phrase “Made in Thailand.”  Id.  He made 

another purchase in May 2008, with similar results.  NAA filed this lawsuit against Peter Stone 

on July 9, 2008.  (ECF 1). 

  ARGUMENT 

Rule 11 

Rule 11(b)(1)-(3) provides that when a pleading is filed with the court, a party and its 

attorney are certifying: (1) it is not being presented for any improper purpose, such as to harass 

or to cause unnecessary delay or needlessly increase the cost of litigation; (2) the claims and 

other legal contentions therein are warranted by existing law or by a nonfrivolous argument for 

the extension, modification, or reversal of existing law or the establishment of new law; and (3) 

the allegations and other factual contentions have evidentiary support or, if specifically so 

identified, are likely to have evidentiary support after a reasonable opportunity for further 

investigation or discovery.  Rule 11 attempts to correct the problem of an opponent who acts in 

bad faith in conducting litigation by awarding expenses, including attorneys’ fees, to the movant.  

The Comments in Rule 11 encourage district courts to impose sanctions when appropriate to 

discourage abusive tactics.     

Section 1927 

28 U.S.C. § 1927 provides: 

Any attorney or other person admitted to conduct cases in any 

court of the United States or any Territory thereof who multiplies 

the proceedings in any case unreasonably and vexatiously may be 

required by the court to satisfy personally the excess costs, 

expenses, and attorneys' fees reasonably incurred because of such 

conduct. 

This statute was enacted “is to deter frivolous litigation and abusive practices by attorneys.”  

Kapco Mfg. Co. v. C&O Enters., Inc., 886 F.2d 1485, 1491 (7
th

 Cir. 1989).  If a lawyer pursues a 
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path that a reasonably careful attorney would have known, after appropriate inquiry, to be 

unsound, the conduct is objectively unreasonable and vexatious, and such conduct supports an 

award of sanctions against the lawyer.  Dal Pozzo v. Basic Machinery, 463  F.3d  609, 614  (7
th

 

Cir. 2006).  The absence of subjective bad faith is not enough to avoid sanctions under Section 

1927 if the conduct is objectively unreasonable.  In other words, a finding of malice or ill will is 

not necessary, and reckless indifference is sufficient.  In re TCI, 769 F.2d 441, 445 (7
th

 Cir. 

1985).  False statements to the court can also form the basis for sanctions under Section 1927.  

See, e.g., Tuf-Flex Glass v. NLRB, 715 F.2d 291, 298 (7
th

 Cir. 1983) 

A. Sanctions Are Appropriate 

In this case NAA did not have a good faith basis in fact or law for bringing or continuing 

this lawsuit.  NAA did no investigation of its standing to bring or continue this lawsuit and never 

had any evidence whatsoever to support its right to bring this lawsuit.  This case follows NAA’s 

pattern to file suit, allege astronomical damage figures from the defendant, and then try coercing 

a settlement.  On March 24, 2014 NAA’s counsel made a settlement demand of $6,000,000 in 

this case, claiming at that time that NAA’s damages were $36,108,000 plus attorneys’ fees and 

punitive damages.  (Ex. 5).  The problem with this scheme is that it violates Rule 11.  Lawsuits 

cannot be filed or maintained in the hopes of extorting a settlement.  Elster v. Alexander, 122 

F.R.D. 593, 604 (N.D. Ga. 1998) (“bringing an action solely in an attempt to coerce settlement is 

sanctionable.”).  In determining whether there is an overall pattern of bad faith conduct, the 

Court may also take judicial notice of similar actions filed by NAA.  Id. 

Alternatively, the Court should exercise its inherent powers to impose sanctions against 

NAA because Peter Stone was forced to spend significant time and money defending against 

NAA’s meritless lawsuit.  Calderon v. Merch. & Southern Bank, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 

154352 , *18 (M.D.Fla. Oct. 8, 2013).  A court may tax attorneys’ fees and costs “when [the 
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client, attorney, or both] has acted in bad faith, vexatiously, wantonly, or for oppressive reasons.”  

Id.  Grounds for a bad faith award exist in this case – when, as here NAA brought a groundless 

suit and forced Peter Stone to expend time, effort and expense in conducting its defense.  Id. 

B. Plaintiff Lacked A Good Faith Basis To Allege Standing 

NAA was required to have Article III standing to file this lawsuit.  Specialty 

Merchandise, 451 F.Supp.2d 1080 (C.D. Cal. 2006); ECF 323 at 11.  A plaintiff must have a 

good faith basis (i.e., with investigation and evidence) to allege that it has been harmed by the 

defendant’s actions.  Id.  Courts have routinely granted sanctions where a plaintiff brings suit 

without standing to do so.  See, e.g., Maerki v. Wilson, 128 F.3d 1005 (6
th

 Cir. 1997); Liberty 

Legal Found. v. Nat’l Democratic Party of the USA, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 120120 (W.D. Tenn. 

Aug. 24,. 2012); AOM Group, LLC v. Irwin Mfg., 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 38296 (D. Ariz. Mar. 

31, 2011); TXCAT v. Phoenix Group Metals, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 132614 (S.D. Tex. Feb. 14, 

2013); Stalley v. Mt. States Health Alliance, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 8643 (E.D. Tenn. Feb. 2, 

2010).   

A plaintiff must establish the following three elements to establish standing: (1) the 

plaintiff must have suffered an “injury in fact” – that is, “an invasion of a legally protected 

interest, which is (a) concrete and particularized – particularized meaning the injury must affect 

the plaintiff in a personal and individual way, and (b) is actual or imminent, not conjectural or 

hypothetical; (2) the injury must be fairly traceable to the challenged action of the defendant; (3) 

it must be likely, as opposed to merely speculative, that the injury will be redressed by a 

favorable decision.  In granting Peter Stone’s Motion for Summary Judgment, this Court 

properly found that NAA lacked Article III injury in fact.  (ECF 323).  As this Court noted in its 

ruling, this was not the first time that NAA had been warned about the consequences of failing to 

adduce proof in support of its conclusory and sketchy complaints.  (ECF 323 at 17, citing 
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Specialty Merchandise, 451 F.Supp.2d at 1080 (“If NAA fails to adduce sufficient evidence of 

competition, it may suffer defeat at summary judgment....Article III of the United States 

Constitution requires proof of such damages in order to have access to the federal courts to 

establish and collect upon such a claim. Plaintiff must bear in mind that it shoulders the burden 

of proof on this issue, and this Court is required to jealously guard its own jurisdictional 

boundaries.”); NAA v. Contract Specialties, 754 F.Supp.2d 368, 390 (D. R.I. 2010) (“If NAA 

fails to adduce sufficient evidence of competition, it may suffer defeat at summary judgment.  At 

this stage of litigation, however, it is enough for NAA to allege that it sells similar products as 

Specialties and that its sales and reputation are harmed by Specialties’ false advertising and sales 

of fakes.”). 

NAA had no evidence of anything concrete or particularized and no evidence to trace any 

injury from Peter Stone’s actions.  Evidence is required, and mere speculation or conjecture is 

not enough to allege an injury in fact.  In both its initial and amended disclosures, NAA alleged: 

In addition, Plaintiff maintains that it has suffered injuries from Defendant’s 

conduct of offering, displaying for sale and selling competitive violative Indian 

products in competition with Plaintiff’s authentic Indian products including, but 

not limited to, NAA lost sales as a direct and indirect result of the Defendant’s 

offer, display and sale of Indian-style products similar to those offered, displayed 

and sold by NAA through similar mediums and markets; Defendant’s imitation 

products drove down prices of authentic Indian products, forcing Plaintiff to offer 

its authentic products at lower prices.  

 

(Exs. 1, 3).  However, contrary to what it asserted in its disclosures, NAA (1) had no evidence of 

any lost sales resulting from Peter Stone’s actions, could point to no sales records or any figures 

of any kind or evidence anywhere in the record, (2) had absolutely no evidence that it could not 

mark up its products due to Peter Stone’s activities, (3) had no proof that it had lowered its prices 

because of Peter Stone’s actions, (4) had no evidence regarding advertising, and (5) there was 

absolutely no evidence to suggest that it was forced to increase its advertising outlay in 2006-
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2009, whether as a result of Peter Stone’s activities or otherwise.  (ECF 323 at 23). 

As the Court noted in its summary judgment ruling, the absurdity of NAA’s lawsuit is 

demonstrated by the fact that if NAA had standing it would mean the following would have 

standing to sue Peter Stone: (1) 345 Indian arts and crafts organizations, (2) 556 federally 

recognized Indian Tribes and (3) over 5 million individual Indians in the country listed in the 

Indian Arts and Craft Board’s registry, resulting in the following some 6 million people and 

entities and a multiplicity of suits that the injury-in-fact requirement seeks to prevent.  This 

would mean a potential $70 trillion in damages, as a result of $27,000 in sales.  The entire Indian 

arts and crafts industry, legitimate and illegitimate, is worth, at the most, just $1 billion annually, 

which would put Peter Stone on the hook for 70,000 years of the entire output of the industry.  

As this Court properly held, Congress’ desire to deter sales of counterfeit Indian products and 

preserve an important aspect of the Native American’s culture was not intended to nor could it 

authorize so grossly punitive and excessive a result, and nor do fundamental concepts of standing 

allow it.  (ECF 323 at 30-31).  Also, the Ho-Chunk Nation Traditional Court sent a letter to the 

Ho-Chunk Nation Legislature wherein they stated “plaintiff [NAA] is mainly concerned with 

monetary gains” and describe NAA’s claims for “the dollar amounts of $1,000 per day and 

$2,000,000 is preposterous and frivolous.”  (ECF 323 at 10). 

C. Lack Of A Good Faith Basis To Allege That The Wolfwalker Collection Was Not 

Designed By A Native American 

There was also a failure by NAA to investigate with respect to its allegation that the 

jewelry in the Wolfwalker Collection was not designed by a Native American.  All of the jewelry 

in the Wolfwalker Collection were designed by Wendy Whiteman.  Whiteman confirmed that 

she was and is in fact, a Native American.  (Ex. 4, Whiteman Dep. at 10, 12, 17-19).  NAA 

argued that Whiteman is not an “enrolled member of a recognized Indian tribe,” to which she 
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responded that she is not.  But, as this Court held, the word “enrolled” does not appear in the 

IACA.  (ECF 323 at 7).  No one other than NAA and Lubin have ever challenged Whiteman’s 

ability to sell her Indian products.   

After his entrance into the case, Lubin disgustingly disparaged Whiteman, who has as 

much or more Native American blood than his own client Matthew Mullen
3
, by referring to her 

as “a former east-coast housewife who abandoned a life of Cadillacs, fine jewelry, marriage, 

tennis and society to move to Taos, New Mexico and become a faith healer who runs a sweat 

lodge that uses sage and smudge products” and “a Suburban Long Island divorcee who moved to 

Taos, New Mexico to sell new age products and jewelry which Defendant falsely claimed were 

authentic Native American Jewelry.”  (ECF 154, p.2; ECF 197-1, p.3).  NAA and Lubin’s 

accusation that Whiteman falsely claimed that she was selling authentic Native American 

Jewelry was not only baseless, but frivolous. 

D. NAA’s Frivolous Damages Claim  

In its initial disclosures NAA initially sought more than $15 million in damages in 

this case.  That amount was broken down as follows: statutory damages $14,235,000; 

competitive injury damages $5,000; costs of products purchased $568, and attorneys’ fees 

and costs $300,000-$400,000.  (Ex. 1).  In addition, NAA maintained that it suffered injuries 

from Peter Stone’s conduct of offering, displaying for sale and selling competitive violative 

Indian products in competition with NAA’s authentic Indian products including, but not 

limited to, NAA lost sales as a direct and indirect result of Peter Stone’s offer, display and 

sale of Indian-style products similar to those offered, displayed and sold by NAA through 

similar mediums and markets; Peter Stone’s imitation products drove down prices of 

                                                 
3
 Mullen’s father was attorney Michel Mullen, who was not of Native American descent.   

 

Case: 1:08-cv-03908 Document #: 367 Filed: 08/17/16 Page 12 of 15 PageID #:13164



 13 

authentic Indian products, forcing NAA to offer its authentic products at lower prices; that 

NAA has suffered a loss of goodwill and reputation because of Peter Stone’s counterfeit 

product; that Peter Stone had a gross profit on the products at issue; and that NAA was 

injured by its own purchase of counterfeit Indian products from Peter Stone.     

However, there was no evidence to support any of these assertions.  The $5,000 

damages claim was baseless and fabricated.  At his deposition in this case, when asked how he 

came up with the claim that NAA suffered $5,000 in competitive injury damages, Matthew 

Mullen said he “believe[d] the figure came from conversations that [he] had with his attorney.”  

However, when Mullen was asked whether he consulted any invoices or records to come up with 

that figure, his counsel improperly objected and instructed him to invoke the attorney-client 

privilege and not answer that question.  Apart from the waiver resulting from answering the 

question without claiming privilege at that point, the answer to the question of whether Matthew 

Mullen reviewed any business records to come up with a damage figure obviously is not 

privileged, and the instruction not to answer was, as the Court found, purposefully obstructive 

and wrong.  (ECF 323 at 21).  The Court found “the genesis of the $5,000 ‘competitive damage’ 

figure is shrouded in mystery,” which this Court noted was concerning since Rule 11 requires a 

pre-filing inquiry of the facts and Rule 26(a)(1) requires a computation of damages and an 

explanation of how the damages were computed.  (ECF 323 at 20).  Rule 26(a)(1)(A)(iii) 

requires that a party seeking damages must also “make available for inspection and copying as 

under Rule 34 the documents or other evidentiary material...on which each computation is 

based.”  (ECF 323 at 18-19).  NAA failed to do so – and the reason for that is simple – it had no 

basis for its damage claims. 

E. Plaintiff’s Withdrawn Experts 

Finally, sanctions are warranted as a result of NAA’s submission of two purported 

Case: 1:08-cv-03908 Document #: 367 Filed: 08/17/16 Page 13 of 15 PageID #:13165



 14 

“experts” and their opinions in this case, Tony Erachio and James Berger.  Both Erachio and 

Berger were previously barred from testifying in similar cases.  Erachio was barred in the Indio 

case.  (Ex. 6).  Berger was barred in NAA v. Bud K.  (Ex. 7).  Worse yet, Erachio submitted the 

virtually identical report in this case as he did in the Indio case.  (Ex. 8).  Also, Berger was 

barred in Bud K on the very same survey that he conducted in this case.  (Ex. 9).  Knowing that 

its experts were improper, Plaintiff withdrew both of them (Ex. 10 and 11).  However, before 

Plaintiff withdrew these improper “experts”, Peter Stone was forced to expend significant fees 

and expenses with respect to NAA submitting them and their groundless opinion experts, 

including taking their depositions, and being forced to retain and pay for rebuttal experts.   

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, Defendant Peter Stone Co., U.S.A., Inc. requests that this 

Court grant its Motion for Sanctions and enter an Order awarding Peter Stone Co., U.S.A., Inc. 

its attorneys’ fees
4
 and expenses incurred in defending this lawsuit against Plaintiff Native 

American Arts, Inc. and its counsel Peter Lubin and for such further relief as this Court deems 

proper. 

PETER STONE CO., U.S.A., INC. 

 

 

By:  /s/James K. Borcia     

 One of Its Attorneys 

James K. Borcia (jborcia@tresslerllp.com) 

TRESSLER LLP 

233 South Wacker Drive, 22
nd

 Floor 

Chicago, IL 60606 

(312) 627-4000 

 

                                                 
4
 In the event this Court grants this Motion Peter Stone will submit to the Court a proper fee and expense petition. 
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EXHIBIT INDEX TO DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR SANCTIONS 

1  Plaintiff’s Initial Disclosures 

2  6/11/14 Email to Plaintiff’s Counsel 

3  Plaintiff’s Amended Initial Disclosures 

4  Wendy Whiteman Deposition 

5  Letter from Plaintiff’s Counsel 3/24/14 

6  NAA v. Indio Decision 

7  NAA v. Bud K Decision 

8  Tony Erachio Report 

9  James Berger Report 

10  Plaintiff Withdrawal of Tony Erachio 

11  Plaintiff Withdrawal of James Berger  
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